STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Sep 20 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari - PCR - Common Pleas - Other
APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Common Pleas Court
Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV

Appellate Case No. 2023-000747
Trial Court Case No. 2020-CP-26-4711

Marquis McDonald Petitioner,

v.

The State of South Carolina Respondent

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

C. Rauch Wise
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
SC Bar No. 6188
864-229-5010

Attorney for Petitioner

Statement of the Case

Procedural History

On March 1, 2013, Marquis McDonald turned himself into the Sheriff's Department for Horry County. He was arrested for the murder of Anthony Liddell which occurred on February 26, 2013. He was tried on October 6, 2014 to October 9, 2014. He was convicted of Armed robbery and murder. He was sentenced to 45 years for the murder and 30 years for the armed robbery.

Mr. McDonald appealed his conviction to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. The conviction was affirmed on July 12, 2017. Mr. McDonald, through counsel, filed a Post Conviction Relief Application on August 11, 2020.¹ On the day of the hearing an amended Application was filed.

The Post Conviction Relief hearing was held on November 29, 2022 before Judge H. Steven DeBerry. On March 14, 2023, Judge DeBerry issued an order denying relief to Mr. McDonald. The Order was filed on March 17, 2023 and received by counsel on March 21, 2023. On March 30, 2023, counsel for Mr. McDonald filed a motion to alter or amend the order. The motion was denied on April 4, 2023. The order was filed on April 10, 2023. Mr. McDonald filed his Notice of Intent to Appeal on May 8, 2023.

Factual History

On February 26, 2013, Marquis McDonald was to meet Anthony Liddell at night in the

¹ The delay in filing the Post Conviction Relief application was caused by the failure of Appellate counsel to notify Mr. McDonald of the fact the court of appeals had ruled against him. The State initially moved to dismiss the Application on the ground that it was not timely. After a hearing and further investigation, the State withdrew this claim.

parking lot of a residential housing complex for Coastal Carolina University. The purpose of the meeting was to purchase marijuana from Mr. Liddell. Mr. McDonald had previously purchased marijuana from Mr. Liddell at the same location. App. at 588, ll 14-21, Accompanying Mr. McDonald was Stephon McLain.

The case presented two different theories as to what happened that night. The theory of the state was that McDonald pulled a pistol in an attempt to rob Mr. Liddell. The state contended that Mr. McDonald, in an attempt to rob Mr. Liddell, shot him while they were both outside the automobile standing on the driver's side of the automobile that Mr. McDonald was driving. App. at 99, ll 22-25; 100, ll 4-7; 161, ll 4-6. The state contended that Mr. McDonald then fled the scene with Mr. McLain.

Mr. McDonald testified that he dove out of the automobile when Mr. McLain unexpectedly pulled a pistol on Mr. Liddell. He stated he never fired a weapon. He also testified he did not know Mr. McLain had a firearm and there was no plan to rob Mr. Liddell. App. at 593, ll 19-21; 594, ll 1-6. After the shots were fired, Mr. McDonald re-entered the automobile and left the scene. He did not believe Mr. Liddell had been shot as he was still standing when he left the scene. This witness for the state also testified that Mr. Liddell was standing when the automobile left, but collapsed shortly thereafter. App. at 161, ll 4-6.

Agent Sabrina Ann Fellers, with the State Law Enforcement Division, arrived at the crime scene to conduct an analysis of the crime scene. On the ground, next to a white SUV, found a cell phone and cigarette pack. App. at 243, ll 1-9. The evidence later established that the cell phone and cigarette pack found on the ground belonged to Mr. McDonald. Mr. McDonald explained the cell phone and cigarette pack were in his lap when the first shot

occurred and he dove out the driver's side door. App. at 594, 8-15. Also found next to the white SUV was a single shell casing. App. at 243, ll 15-18. Agent Fellers was not qualified as a crime scene reconstruction expert. As a result, she could not give any opinion as to the direction of travel as to the two bullets that entered the back passenger door of the SUV. App. at 274, ll 16-19.

The Agent further observed two bullet defects in the rear passenger door of the white SUV. App. at 244, ll 7-8. Based upon her observations, the bullets appeared to be going in a slight upward angle. App. at 254, ll 17-25. The agent who examined the Acura that had been driven by Mr. McDonald was Tiffany Hezel. She noticed several defects in the interior of the vehicle. She was unable to state the cause of the defects. App. at 301, ll 11-23. She was able to place trajectory rods through some of the "defects." App. at 302, ll 10-15. She did not notice any damage to the back car windows. App. at 312, ll 14-19. She admitted she was not a crime scene reconstruction expert. As far as she knew, no crime scene reconstruction had been done on the vehicle. App. at 346, ll 6-21. James L. Johnson, another investigator on the case, testified the investigators never attempted to do a crime scene reconstruction. App. at 491, ll 7-15. Without having examined the Acura Mr. McDonald was driving, the investigator determined such a reconstruction would not have been helpful, as McDonald had had the Acura for about three or four days and could have cleaned up the car.

Many witnesses testified as to cell phone contents and cell tower information. The results of these examination were virtually of no importance as Mr. McDonald admitted he was at the scene and he was at the scene with Stephon McLain.

When Mr. McDonald was interviewed by the police, he originally told them only one shot was fired inside the car. App. at 479, ll 10-11; 486, ll 6-8. He also told the officers that Mr.

McLain arrived at the scene with Mr. Liddell. After Mr. McLain pulled out the pistol, he and Mr. Liddell tried to take the pistol from Mr. Liddell. After the weapon discharged, he told the officer he got out of the automobile on the driver's side. He then re-entered the automobile, struck Mr. McLain in the face, knocking him out of the automobile. He then left the scene. App. at 478, 1 11 to 479, 1 21.

He provided the police with a diagram as to the location of each person in the automobile. He stated Mr. Liddell was in the back passenger side and Mr. McLain was in the front passenger seat. App. at 484, 11 8-11. This left Mr. McDonald as the driver.

In his closing argument, the prosecutor made several scientific conclusions from the evidence presented at trial. He first argued, "They talked about the absence of crime scene reconstruction. It's irrelevant." App. at 644, 11 19-21. Without a crime scene expert, he then states, "People shoot in a car, it looks likes [sic] a flash bulb went off. Looks like Christmas or 4th of July. She didn't see that because the gun is pressed." App. at 647, 11 5-8. He continued, "But those shots were close, folks, that's why she doesn't see the muzzle flash." App. at 647, 11 18-21.

As to the bullet holes in the SUV next to Mr. McDonald's case, he stated, "It's through and through, as if somebody had been pressed up against the car and they're shot in the chest with one exit up the ribs and turns, and the other shot goes through his chest popping through that car." App. at 649, 11 2-6. As to the pistol being fired in the car he concluded, "If gunfire goes off in a car, he going to be deaf as a post. But he's not." App. at 652, 11 3-4. Finally he argued, "And the only way for those wounds to happen to Anthony without Marquis being damaged whatsoever is for him to be the shooter, him shooting as he grapples with him, cutting him from left to right, and when he turns shooting him through the chest, putting him down."

App. at 654, ll 8-12. No reconstruction expert is needed for the state if the solicitor is going to be his own reconstruction expert in closing.

At the Post Conviction Relief, the judge accepted Dr. Brent Turvey as an expert in crime scene reconstruction. Dr. Turvey painted a different picture from what the solicitor said in his closing. Dr. Turvey reviewed the autopsy report, the transcript of the trial and the photographs taken by the investigators, which numbered over 100. These photographs included the autopsy pictures. It further included pictures of the crime scene itself, including a white SUV at the scene. It further included the pictures of the automobile Mr. McDonald was driving that night.

After reviewing the autopsy report, the first conclusion made by Dr. Turvey was that he agreed with Dr. Edward Proctor that a wound to the right hand of Mr. Liddell could have been a defensive wound. App. at 529, l 22 to 530, l 17; App. at 18, l 1 to 19, l 14. Dr. Turvey attributed the wound to be either from the firearm or the actual projectile. He testified there appeared to be soot in the wound. He stated this indicated to him the shooter on this one shot was close to Mr. Liddell. App. at 18, ll 12-16.

In examining the pictures of the automobile Mr. McDonald was driving, Dr. Turvey noted that based upon the placement of the dowel rods which traced the trajectory of the bullet, the most reasonable conclusion was that the gunshot came from the front passenger side of the automobile. The shot would have been toward the rear driver's side door. As to the position of the shooter he stated, "I concluded is that it is more reasonable to infer it came from the passenger's seat. The person from the passenger's seat turning around right-handed and shooting into the back seat, behind the driver's seat." App. at 20, ll 21-25.

In examining the pictures of the white SUV found at the scene, Dr. Turvey made two conclusions. First, the scrapes at the bottom of the passenger door would be consistent with the door of the automobile next to it opening and hitting the passenger side door of the SUV. App. at 22, ll 9-13. The scrapings were also noted by the crime scene investigator. App. at 255, ll 15-16. Dr. Turvey agreed with the crime scene investigator that the two bullet holes in the SUV had a slightly upward trajectory. App. at 23, ll 3-23; App. at 254, ll 17-25. He concluded that the slight upward trajectory of the bullet was inconsistent with two people standing up and outside of the automobile and one of them being shot by the other. App. at 23, ll 22-25. He opined that the upward angle “[I]s more consistent with coming from a seated position inside the vehicle with the door open.” App. at 27, ll 3-5.

He further testified that the finding of only one shell casing outside the vehicle is more consistent with them originating from inside the automobile of which Mr. McDonald was the driver. He stated if two or more shots had occurred outside the Acura driven by Mr. McDonald and between the white SUV, one would have expected to find more than one shell casing on the ground. App. at 27, ll 17-19. He stated one shell casing can be explained by one shot occurring within the automobile and landing in the lap of the person who quickly exited the vehicle or in the door jam and fell out when the door was opened. App. at 28, ll 6-10. He further noted that Mr. McDonald’s cell phone being found on the ground near where the driver’s side door would have been, is consistent with Mr. McDonald being the driver and quickly exiting the automobile. App. at 25, ll 16-24.

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing Gregory McCollum, the trial lawyer for Mr. McDonald, after hearing a portion of the testimony of Dr. Turvey, stated, “I mean the crime

scene seemed so obvious that in hindsight I wish I had an expert.” App. at 39, ll 22-24. Mr. McCollum was also shown a SLED report showing that the shell casing found at the scene matched the shell casing found at another murder scene. He testified the cell phone records of Mr. McDonald established that he was not at the scene of the other murder at the time of the shooting. When asked if he considered using that information to prove Mr. McDonald did not have the firearm, he responded, “I don’t remember if I did or didn’t. I think it should be done. If I didn’t do it, I think that is an error.” App. at 42, ll 22-24. He further admitted he was not aware of *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). The judge in this case, tried three years after the *Belcher* decision, charged the jury they can infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon.

Standard of Review

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018)(internal citations omitted)

Argument

Question I

Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective for not securing the services of a crime scene expert when the Post Conviction judge found the testimony of Dr. Brent Turvey would have been helpful but was not an unreasonable decision as the testimony was merely duplicative evidence of what trial counsel believed the evidence would show?

In denying Marquis McDonald’s application for Post Conviction Relief, the judge found the testimony of Dr. Brent Turvey helpful. The lower court stated, “Though this court finds that the expert would have been helpful, it was not unreasonable for Counsel to fail to call [an] expert to present duplicative evidence aligning with what he reasonably thought the evidence clearly established.” App. at 828. This finding is without evidentiary support. By finding the testimony of the expert helpful, the court acknowledged the testimony was credible. The record is devoid of any evidence that the failure to use this helpful testimony was not prejudicial to Mr. McDonald. The precise issue before this court is whether the failure of defense counsel to call an expert that would be helpful to the defense, constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

In the Rule 59e Motion, counsel called to the attention of the judge that what trial

counsel's believed the theory to be is not evidence. App. at 811. Defense counsel could have the most logical defense ever known in the courts, but if trial counsel does not present evidence to support the theory, the theory is useless. In this case the prosecutor had a theory substantially different from that of trial counsel. An expert was needed to refute the theory of the state.

In his closing argument, defense counsel attempted to use the testimony from the witnesses to the advantage of Mr. McDonald. He argued that the bullet came from within the automobile. App. at 628, ll 8-11. He also argued the bullets struck the white SUV next to Mr. McDonald's car. App. at 628, ll 18-21. He did not argue the angle of the entry of the bullet. Dr. Turvey's testimony shows the importance of the angle of entry of the bullet. His testimony established that the angle of entry made the fact that the shots were fired outside of the car improbable. App. at 26, l 22 to 27, l 5. Trial counsel did not argue the importance of only one shell casing being found outside on the ground. Dr. Turvey did discuss the importance of this fact. App. at 27, ll 17-20. Trial Counsel further argued "Now if I'm seated in the driver's side of the car, it is impossible for me to have shot him, just as it's impossible for me to have shot him if I'm standing outside the car." App. at 629, ll 6-9. Defense counsel never explained how it was impossible for Mr. McDonald to have shot Mr. Liddell while standing up. This was in fact the state's theory. Without an expert, defense counsel had no means to explain why the shooting could not have occurred standing up outside of the automobile. While defense counsel had a theory, he neglected to develop this theory during the trial as he failed to call a crime scene expert to support his theory. Nor was his cross-examination of the state's witnesses helpful in developing his theory.

In his closing argument, the solicitor first argued, "They talked about the absence of

crime scene reconstruction. It's irrelevant." App. at 644, ll 19-21. As noted previously, the State did not call a crime scene expert. The State had its own theory. When discussing the bullet holes in the white SUV, the solicitor argued, "And they are not at a severe angle from the side as if somebody was wrestling with a gun and it went through and through them. It's through and through, as if somebody had been pressed up against the car and they're shot in the chest with one exit up the ribs and turns and the other shot goes into his chest popping through that car." App. at 648, l 25 to 649, l 6. No testimony existed to show the bullet turned as described. Without an expert, defense counsel had no basis for trying to explain why the theory of the state was wrong and the theory of the defense was correct. The testimony of Dr. Turvey or a similar expert, was not merely helpful. The testimony was essential to give credibility to the defense theory of the case.

This Court has in the past found trial counsel ineffective for not obtaining the services of an expert to help develop the defense theory of the case. *McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 661 S.E.2d 354 (2008); *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d. 590 (2007). As to the duty to investigate, the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 690-91, (1984) said:

These standards require no special amplification in order to define counsel's duty to investigate, the duty at issue in this case. As the Court of Appeals concluded, strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation. In other words, counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary. In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.

In this case, trial counsel made no investigation as to the need for a crime scene expert to support defense counsel's theory of the case. A strategic decision not to use an expert was not made after a thorough investigation. In this case, the decision not to use an expert was not made with full, or even some knowledge, as to how an expert could help the defense. When a decision not to use an expert is made without consulting an expert, it cannot be an informed decision. Nor could it be a strategic decision. A decision by trial counsel simply to argue his theory to the jury rather than secure testimony to prove his theory is not a "reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary."

The expert defense counsel failed to use in this case is not a fringe expert. The testimony of Dr. Turvey does not incorporate a new or novel theories. A crime scene expert has been found by this court to be important in presenting an adequate defense since *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618, 513 S.E.2d 98 (1999). A reasonably competent defense counsel should have known to at least consult a crime scene expert. Only after consulting an expert can a reasonable decision be made as to trial strategy. As the Oregon Supreme Court has said, "After all, the purpose of requiring attorneys to make a reasonable investigation is to enable them to reasonably consider the costs and benefits of pursuing a given action and thus permit them to make an informed decision." *Farmer v. Premo*, 363 Or. 679, 697, 427 P.3d 170, 181 (2018)

The Post Conviction Relief judge stated, "Counsel's performance is not deficient if he decided to present a witness as a tactical and strategic move, nor if the witness was unlikely to appear or present testimony that could have made a difference at trial." App. 827. The record is devoid of any evidence that the failure to call an expert was part of a strategic decision. The record is devoid of any testimony that any expert retained would not appear at trial. The part of

the statement that is applicable is that the testimony of Dr. Turvey “could have made a difference at trial.” Whether the Post Conviction Relief judge mean to include a “not” in that phrase is not known. Obviously trial counsel is deficient if the testimony would have made a difference at the trial.

Nothing in this record suggests that the decision not to call a crime scene expert was a tactical or strategic decision. Trial counsel testified “But, I mean, the crime scene seemed so obvious that in hindsight I wish I had an expert.” App. at 39, ll 22-24. This statement by trial counsel simply demonstrates that trial counsel failed to appreciate the fact that trial counsel’s belief as to what the evidence shows, is not admissible before the jury, except in closing argument. The state and defense counsel had totally different views as to what the evidence showed. An expert would have helped the jury understand why the theory of defense counsel was more logical.

Trial counsel could not have relied upon cross examination to argue his theory of the case to the jury. The crime scene people who gathered the evidence admitted they were not experts and could not give opinions to support the theory of the trial counsel. App. At 385, ll 9-24; 346, ll 6-21; 274, l 10 to 275, l 18; 387, ll 14-16. Thus, he could not have made a strategic decision to promote his theory through the cross-examination of the state’s witnesses.

“Without a doubt, ‘[a] criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but this duty is limited to reasonable investigation.’ When evaluating the reasonableness of counsel’s conduct, ‘the court should keep in mind that counsel’s function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case.’” *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007(internal citations omitted)). Without the testimony of

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