STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jan 11 2024

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2023-000747

MARQUIS MCDONALD,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3747

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1688
Georgetown, SC 29442

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court properly found that Petitioner's counsel was not ineffective for failing to hire an expert.

The PCR court properly denied relief because counsel was not outside the zone of reasonable professional norms in not calling an expert witness to testify at trial and Petitioner suffered no prejudice. Accordingly, this Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

Pursuant to the first prong of the Strickland analysis, Petitioner must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 686; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel's actions fell outside of the zone of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. See also Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC ("The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence"). Reasonableness is determined by the "variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant," and the scope of the reasonableness inquiry is limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. Id. at 689. "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually "countless" ways. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner so that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. Id. at 695. Realistically, this is found "only in the rarest case" because "[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable." Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 111-12 (2011) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697).

"Defense lawyers have 'limited' time and resources, and so must choose from among 'countless' strategic options." Dunn v. Reeves, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021). Where counsel articulates a valid trial strategy for failing to call an expert witness to testify at trial, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective. Legare v. State, 333 S.C. at 281, 509 S.E.2d at 475 (1998); Bower v. Quarterman, 497 F.3d 459, 472 (5th Cir. 2007) (Counsel is not constitutionally required to seek out a contradictory expert so long as the decision not to call an expert is informed and based on a strategic decision.). "In many criminal cases trial counsel's decision not to seek expert testimony is unquestionably tactical because such an expert might uncover evidence that further inculcates the defendant." Samatar v. Clarridge, 225 F. App'x. 366, 372 (6th Cir. 2007). The analysis for failure to call a witness is focused on the strategic considerations of counsel in balancing the potential benefits of calling a witness against the risks. Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018).

In Edwards v. State, our Supreme Court found counsel to not be ineffective for failing to call a codefendant, because the testimony would have been cumulative and could have opened the door for a potentially unfavorable cross examination. Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 710

S.E.2d 60 (2011). Several other jurisdictions have held counsel is not ineffective for failing to present cumulative evidence. See Miller v. State, 764 S.E.2d 135, 140 (GA 2014) (“Counsel is not ineffective for failing to call an expert witness whose testimony would have been cumulative of other evidence presented in the trial”); Gudinas v. State, 816 So.2d 1095, 1106 (Fla. 2002) (“even if alternate witnesses could provide more detailed testimony, trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to present cumulative evidence”); Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 687 (Iowa 1984) (“withholding of cumulative testimony will not ordinarily satisfy the prejudice component of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel”); Ford v. Hall, 546 F.3d 1326, 1328 (11th Cir. 2008) (“Counsel is not required to call additional witnesses to present redundant or cumulative evidence”).

In the case sub judice, counsel was not deficient because the testimony offered would have been repetitive. The PCR court properly found that counsel was not ineffective because the expert testimony would have been duplicative considering the evidence presented at trial. (App. 828). The expert would have stated that it was unlikely Petitioner was the shooter because the shooting would have been at a close range and thus most likely from the passenger seat. (App. 29-30). Counsel stated that he thought the trajectory was obvious. (App. 39). He even stated “anyone with a number two pencil could have told you where the bullets were coming from.” (App. 39-40). Counsel explained in his closing argument “we know the bullet came from inside the car ... we know where the bullet hit, that it hit in the back of the door.” (App. 628). Counsel further attacked the State’s theory of the case by explaining possible complications Petitioner would have shooting from over the car door. (App. 628). Counsel even stated, “if I’m seated in the driver’s side of the car, it is impossible for me to have shot him.” (App. 629).

Counsel reasonably thought an expert was not needed, because testimony would have been repetitive to that already produced, especially with respect to the testimony of Petitioner. Calling an expert witness would risk the admission of unfavorable testimony; coupled with the low benefit of duplicative evidence and an inability to disprove Petitioner's involvement relating to hand of one hand of all. Counsel implemented a valid trial strategy for not hiring an expert.

Even if counsel deviated from the standards of professional norms, any deficiency did not result in prejudice. The standards of prejudice do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Id. at 696-97.

Here, the evidence to be offered by the expert is not reasonably probable to produce a different outcome. The State produced evidence that Petitioner set up the marijuana deal the day before the incident. (App. 431-4; 588). Petitioner put himself at the scene of the shooting. (App. 588-9). A SLED agent testified that all the evidence recovered from the scene, including the cell phone and bullet casing, came from the driver's side of the car where Petitioner was seated. (App. 391). Expert testimony is not reasonably probable to change the outcome, because the State produced sufficient evidence and because the jury was not required to establish Petitioner's role as the shooter to secure a conviction. The expert testimony only dealt with the likelihood of Petitioner being the actual shooter, not with his criminal liability under the hand of one hand of all.

Because of the sufficiency of evidence, the result at trial was not impacted by the failure to object to instructions given, even if the Court finds counsel deficient.

Petitioner also claims counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce evidence relating to a report that shell casings found in this case matched casings used in another murder case where McLain was charged. Petitioner must prove that counsel's actions fell outside of the zone of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 688. Here, the report simply shows the same weapon was used in both murders. It does not show Petitioner did not fire the weapon or that he was not a participant under the hand of one hand of all theory. Because the evidence provides low relevance or value to the defense, counsel was not deficient and Petitioner suffered no prejudice.

Petitioner has failed to meet his burden in establishing counsel was ineffective for failing to hire an expert or introduce evidence found in the casing report. Accordingly, this Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

II. The PCR court properly found that Petitioner's counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to jury instructions.

Counsel was not deficient for failing to object to jury instructions, because the instructions when given were valid under Belcher and counsel is not required to anticipate changes in the law.

Counsel's performance must fall "below an objective standard of reasonableness ... under prevailing professional norms." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. In Gilmore v. State, the South Carolina Supreme Court stated, "We have never required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law which were not in existence at the time of trial." Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 457, 445 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1994), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999). Petitioner was convicted of possession with intent to distribute cocaine. Id. at 455. Petitioner argued that counsel should have requested a King instruction. Id. It was clear that the King instruction was limited in scope to the crime of murder, until this Court extended its application to drug related offenses in Clifton. State v. Clifton, 302 S.C. 431, 396 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 1990). Because the requirement to give the King charge for drug crimes did not exist at the time of trial, counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the instruction. Gilmore v. State, at 457, 445 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1994).

The South Carolina Supreme Court reiterated this in Teamer v. State, holding "the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction when no case law existed rendering the instruction improper per se." Teamer v. State, 416 S.C. 171, 183, 786 S.E.2d 109, 115 (2016). The PCR court found counsel to be ineffective for failing to object to the instruction, because an objection would have been preserved for appeal. Id. The Teamer

Court disagreed with this assertion and held that counsel's performance was not deficient, because the court has never required an attorney to anticipate changes in the law. Id.

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has established that an attorney's failure to anticipate a change in the rule of law is not constitutionally deficient. Kornahrens v. Evatt, 66 F.3d 1350, 1360 (4th Cir. 1995). In Honeycutt v. Mahoney, Petitioner was convicted of first-degree murder. Honeycutt v. Mahoney, 698 F.2d 213, 214 (4th Cir. 1983). The trial court instructed the jury that if the killing was done with a deadly weapon, that malice could be presumed. Id. at 216-17. Petitioner challenged the instruction on appeal, but the issue was not preserved. Id. After petitioner was convicted, state law changed, and the instructions were declared unconstitutional. Id. Petitioner claimed ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel failed to anticipate this change in the law. Id. The Court held that counsel was not deficient for failing to object, because when given the instruction was in accordance with a well-established rule. Id.

On July 31, 2019, the South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that "a trial court shall not instruct the jury that it may infer the existence of malice when the deed was done with a deadly weapon." State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). Prior to this decision, it had long been practice for South Carolina courts to instruct juries they may infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon. State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 600, 685 S.E.2d 802, 803 (2009). Belcher found the instruction to only be invalid when evidence was presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the homicide. Id.

The case sub judice was tried from October 6-9, 2014, before State v. Burdette was decided and while Belcher was still applicable. Thus, at the time of the jury instructions in question the case law supported the jury charge given. Nothing in the record supports reduction,

mitigation, excuses, or justifies the homicide. Under the hand of one hand of all theory, the person who joins in the illegal act is as guilty as the principal. § 2-69 Hand of One-Hand of All, Anderson, S.C. Requests to Charge - Criminal, § 2-69. Thus, the charge complied with Belcher and counsel's performance was not deficient.

Petitioner cites Counsel's statements concerning his lack of knowledge surrounding Burdette and Belcher. Nonetheless Counsel's conduct is judged upon an objective standard of reasonableness, and, at the time of the jury instructions, Counsel was objectively reasonable in not challenging the jury instruction as there was no viable legal basis to do so. See Winkler v. State, 418 S.C. 643, 653, 795 S.E.2d 686, 692 (2016) ("One of the key circumstances a court must consider in its examination of counsel's decision not to make a particular objection is whether there was any law to support the objection."); cf. Mayo v. State, 347 S.C. 422, 426, 556 S.E.2d 380, 382 (2001) (holding a post-conviction relief judge's grant of relief based on defense counsel's failure to raise an objection to be without factual support where "there was no sustainable objection" defense counsel could have made). Counsel was not constitutionally deficient by failing to anticipate this change in the law. As held in Teamer, counsel is not required to preserve issues for appeal by anticipating changes in the law. Petitioner failed to prove counsel was deficient in failing to object. Accordingly, the PCR court properly found counsel was not deficient.

A PCR applicant must prove that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The deficient performance must be considered in the entirety of the evidence produced supporting a conviction. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 669.

Even if counsel was deficient, it is not reasonably probable that the outcome would have been different, because the State produced substantial evidence of malice. Petitioner's malice was not found from an inference, but by Petitioner's actions. The State's theory was Petitioner robbed and killed Victim. The State showed a drug deal was set up, that there was an aggressive struggle between the men, that someone was shot multiple times, and that a car drove off and left Victim to die. (App. 588; 153-61). The State produced sufficient evidence to show Petitioner acted with malice independent of the inference stemming from the use of a deadly weapon. Accordingly, this Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ANDREW D. POWELL
Assistant Attorney General

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1688
Georgetown, SC 29442